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Independent Auditors' Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Insight Alpha (the “Series Trust”), a series trust of UBS
Universal Trust (Cayman) Il (the “Trust”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at
January 31, 2025, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes, comprising material accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Series Trust as at January 31, 2025, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS Accounting Standards”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in
accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Series Trust's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Series
Trust or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust's financial reporting
process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

KPMG LLP, a Cayman Islands limited liability partnership and a member firm of
the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG
International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights
reserved

Document classification: KPMG Confidential
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Series Trust's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Series
Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

kPMG LLFP

May 28, 2025
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Insight Alpha
Statement of Financial Position
January 31, 2025

(Expressed in U S. Dollars)

Assets January 31, 2025 January 31, 2024
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 2.2, 5) $ 76, 064, 356 $ 83,017, 463
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2.1) 2,489, 049 1, 855, 211
Prepaid fees 80, 195 93, 427
Total assets 78, 633, 600 84, 966, 101
Liabilities

Payables for:

Investment management fees (Note 8.2E) 92, 906 118, 256
Professional fees (Note 8. 1E) 34, 390 17, 251
Distribution fees (Note 8.1C) 33, 282 28, 389
Fee agent fees (Note 8.2B) 31, 838 6, 813
Administrator fees (Note 8.1A) 8, 020 10, 285
Printing fees 7,063 -
Units repurchased (Note 2.10, 3) 4, 590 179, 020
Custody fees (Note 8.1B) 3,638 15, 209
Agent member company fees (Note 8.2D) 2,653 513
Transfer agent fees (Note 8.1D) 2,243 8, 991
Registration fees 646 -
Trustee fees (Note 8.2A) - 2,765
Liabilities (excluding equity) 221, 269 387,492
Equity (being net assets attributable to the holder of redeemable units) $ 78,412, 331 $ 84, 578, 609

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Expressed in U S. Dollars)

Income January 31, 2025 January 31, 2024
Net income/(loss) from financial instruments at FVTPL(1)
Interest income (Note 2.7, 2.11) $ 105, 711 $ 126, 118
Tg‘;srigiizeg- gfiinﬁn financial assets at fair value through profit or 1,711, 400 907, 226
Tﬁﬁoﬁginiiogtugie?iizeiNiizr;C;téloT1?n7;fman01al assets at fair value 6, 151, 094 5,211, 681
Total income 7,968, 205 6, 245, 025
Expenses
Distribution fees (Note 8.1C) 407, 006 463, 831
Investment management fees (Note 8.2E) 144, 694 185, 533
Fee agent fees (Note 8.2B) 97, 682 111,319
Professional fees (Note 8. 1E) 46, 216 20, 998
Administrator fees (Note 8.1A) 46, 159 55, 660
Printing fees 41,735 7,187
Transfer agent fees (Note 8.1D) 9, 498 24, 437
Custody fees (Note 8. 1B) 9,125 37,223
Agent member company fees (Note 8.2D) 8, 195 9,277
Registration fees 1, 493 -
Trustee fees (Note 8.2A) - 1, 383
Total expenses 811, 803 916, 848
Operating profit 7, 156, 402 5,328, 177
Total comprehensive income (being increase in net assets attributable to $ 7,156, 402 $ 5,328, 177

the holder of redeemable units from operations)

(1) This relates to net income from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss ( “FVTPL” )

including interest income and unrealized gains/losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Expressed in U S. Dollars)

At January 31, 2023 $ 100, 119, 704
Issue of units (Note 3) 180, 940
Repurchases of units (Note 2.8, 3) (21, 050, 212)
Total comprehensive income (being increase in net assets attributable to the 5. 398. 177
holder of redeemable units from operations) ? ’
At January 31, 2024 $ 84, 578, 609
Issue of units (Note 3) 295, 138
Repurchases of units (Note 2.8, 3) (13,617, 818)
Total comprehensive income (being increase in net assets attributable to the

. X 7, 156, 402
holder of redeemable units from operations)
At January 31, 2025 $ 78,412, 331

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Expressed in U S. Dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities:

January 31, 2025

January 31, 2024

Total comprehensive income (being increase in net assets attributable to the $
holder of redeemable units from operations)

Adjustments to reconcile total comprehensive income (being increase in net
assets attributable to the holder of redeemable units from operations) to
cash provided by operating activities:

Proceeds from disposition of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Net realized gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Net change in unrealized appreciation on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Decrease/ (increase) in prepaid fees

Increase in other payables(n

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from units issued, net of change in receivables for units issued

Repurchases of units, net of change in payables for units repurchased

7,156, 402 5,328, 177
14, 815, 601 20, 188, 400
(1, 711, 400) (907, 226)
(6, 151, 094) (5,211, 681)

13, 232 (35, 046)

8, 207 24, 343

14, 130, 948 19, 386, 967
295, 138 180, 940

(13, 792, 248)

(21, 220, 089)

Net cash (used in) financing activities

(13, 497, 110)

(21, 039, 149)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (Note 2.1)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 2.1) $

Supplementary information on cash flows from operating activities

Interest received $

633, 838 (1, 652, 182)
1,855, 211 3,507, 393
2,489, 049 1,855, 211

105, 711 126, 118

M Other payables comprise of investment management fees, distribution fees, fee agent fees, professional fees,

administrator fees, agent member company fees, custody fees, transfer agent fees,

registration fees.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Insight Alpha
Notes to Financial Statements
For the Year Ended January 31, 2025

(Expressed in U S. Dollars)

1. ORGANIZATION

Insight Alpha (the “Series Trust” ) is a Series Trust of UBS Universal Trust (Cayman) III (the

“Trust” ), an open—ended umbrella unit trust constituted by a Master Trust Deed dated December 2, 2013
under Cayman Islands law. The Series Trust was established pursuant to a Supplemental Trust Deed dated
December 24, 2020 and executed by Elian Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee” ), a trust company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Series Trust commenced operations on February 19
2021.

The Trust is an exempted unit trust under the Trust Act (as Revised) of the Cayman Islands and
registered under the Mutual Funds Act (as Revised) of the Cayman Islands on January 22, 2014

The principal office for the Trustee (and therefore the Series Trust) is One Nexus Way, Camana Bay
Grand Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman Islands.

The manager of the Series Trust is UBS Management (Cayman) Limited (the “Manager” ).

The Administrator, Custodian and Transfer Agent of the Series Trust is Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.

(the “Administrator” , “Custodian” and “Transfer Agent” ).

From July 31, 2024, UBS AG, London Branch ("UBS AG”) acts as the Fee Agent (the “Fee Agent” ). Prior to
that date, Credit Suisse International acted as the Fee Agent.

From July 31, 2024, UBS Securities Japan Co. Ltd. acts as the Agent Member Company (the “Agent Member
Company” ). Prior to that date, Credit Suisse Securities (Japan) Limited acted as the Agent Member
Company.

The Investment Manager of the Series Trust is Pictet Asset Management (Japan) Ltd. (the “Investment

Manager )

The Manager has authorized Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation to act as the Distributor (the

“Distributor” ) of the units in Japan

The Series Trust is denominated in U.S. Dollars ( “USD” or “$” ) and units are denominated in USD.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to invest indirectly mainly in equities and equity
related securities in any country (including emerging countries) in any economic sector and in any
currency implemented by following a set of long/short investment strategies. The Series Trust aims to
achieve long—term capital growth in absolute terms with a strong focus on capital preservation. The
Series Trust seeks to achieve its investment objective by investing substantially all of the assets of
the Series Trust into the HJ USD Share Class of Pictet TR — Atlas (the “Selected Fund”).

The Selected Fund is a compartment of, with a separate pool of assets and liabilities within, Pictet TR

an open—ended investment company (SICAV) incorporated under Luxembourg law and classified as an

undertaking for collective investment in transferable securities ( “UCITS” ).
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(Expressed in U S. Dollars)

The primary investment objective of the Selected Fund is to achieve long—term capital growth in absolute
terms with a strong focus on capital preservation by following a set of long/short investment strategies.
Traditional long positions are coupled with (synthetic) long and short positions, which will be achieved
through the use of financial derivative instruments. The Selected Fund will mainly invest in equities,
equity related securities (such as but not limited to ordinary or preferred shares), deposits and money
market instruments. The Selected Fund may invest in any country (including emerging countries), in any
economic sector and in any currency. However, depending on market conditions, the investments or
exposure may be focused on one country or on a limited number of countries and/or one economic activity
sector and/or one currency and/or in a single asset class. The Selected Fund diversifies investment in
undervalued stocks (long positions) and overvalued stocks (short positions) with focusing on the
mispriced stock prices mainly from a wide range of global stock markets. The Selected Fund carries out
stock selection and determines investment allocation based on detailed top—down analysis (macro
analysis) and bottom—up fundamental analysis (individual stock analysis). The Selected Fund aims to
maximize risk—adjusted returns by combining stock selection and active market exposure management in
building a portfolio of the Selected Fund. The Selected Fund also aims to achieve a stable return whilst
minimizing the impact of equity markets by changing long/short investment allocations actively on a

region, country or industry basis

Pictet Asset Management S.A. and Pictet Asset Management Ltd, which have substantial expertise in

managing equity instruments, are acting as managers of the Selected Fund (the ”SF Investment Managers”)

The Investment Manager shall have day—-to—day investment decision—making and ongoing monitoring
responsibility over the portion of the Series Trust’s portfolio comprising the Selected Fund and USD

cash, JPY cash, and money market securities (the "Portfolio”).

At January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024 the Series Trust held 3.5% and 3.6% of the Selected Fund’ s net

assets, respectively

Currently the Selected Fund has fifteen Classes of units — I EUR Class Units, I GBP Class Units, P EUR
Class Units, HI CHF Class Units, HI GBP Class Units, HI JPY Class Units, HI USD Class Units, HJ USD
Class Units, HJ JPY Class Units, HP CHF Class Units, HP USD Class Units, HR USD Class Units, HZX CHF
Class Units, HZX GBP Class Units and ZX EUR Class Units. The Series Trust invests into the Selected Fund
by purchasing the Selected Fund’ s participating shares in the HJ USD Class (denominated in USD). The

Selected Fund allows repurchases of these shares on any business day.

Movements in the fair value of the Selected Fund' s portfolio and corresponding movements in the fair

value of the Selected Fund may expose the Series Trust to a loss
Final Repurchase Day
The Series Trust will continue until the earlier of December 1, 2163 and the earliest practicable

repurchase day following the occurrence of a compulsory repurchase event (the “Final Repurchase Day” )

unless terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed
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The units are compulsorily repurchased upon the first to occur of any of the following:

(i) the net asset value on any valuation day is $3, 000,000 or less and on that valuation day or
thereafter the Manager determines that all of the units should be compulsorily repurchased by

giving notice to all unitholders; or

(ii) the Trustee and the Manager agree that all of the units should be compulsorily repurchased

(each a “Compulsory Repurchase Event”)

Upon the occurrence of a Compulsory Repurchase Event, each unit is repurchased on the Final Repurchase
Day at the final repurchase price per unit. The final repurchase price per unit is calculated by the
Administrator in its sole discretion in accordance with the Offering Memorandum and the Appendix 37 as
the Net Asset Value per unit on the Final Repurchase Day (or if such day is not also a valuation day the
immediately preceding valuation day). Repurchase Day is each dealing day which is also a day on which no
Series Trust disruption event occurs and/or such other day or days as the Manager may from time to time
determine in respect of the Series Trust. Unitholder is able to receive an amount in respect of each
unit repurchased on any Repurchase Day prior to the Final Repurchase Day equal to the Net Asset Value
per unit as at the relevant Repurchase Day (or if that Repurchase Day is not also a valuation day the
immediately preceding valuation day) (the “Repurchase Price” ). There is no repurchase fee applied to

the Repurchase Price in respect of each unit being repurchased

On March 19, 2023, UBS Group AG ( “UBS” ) agreed to acquire Credit Suisse Group AG ( “Credit Suisse” )
following intervention by the Swiss Federal Department of Finance, the Swiss National Bank and the Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA)

On June 12, 2023, UBS Group AG announced the legal closing of the acquisition of Credit Suisse Group AG
by way of a statutory merger. As a result of the closing, Credit Suisse Group AG ceased to exist, and
Credit Suisse AG became a direct wholly—owned subsidiary of UBS Group AG. The Merger was completed with
effect from May 31, 2024

The financial statements were authorized for issue on May 28, 2025.
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise
stated. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
("IFRS”).

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates and requires the Trustee and the Manager to exercise their
judgment in the process of applying the Series Trust’ s accounting policies. Areas where assumptions and
estimates are material to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. Actual results may differ

from these estimates.
The Series Trust has adopted Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standard 10, IFRS

Accounting Standard 12 and IAS Accounting Standard 27) (2012) (the Amendments). Management concluded

that the Series Trust meets the definition of an investment entity
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Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS Accounting Standard 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets:
measured at amortized cost, fair value through profit and loss (FVIPL) and fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI). The classification of financial assets under IFRS Accounting Standard 9 is
generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash

flow characteristics.

On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amortized cost or
FVTPL

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

i) It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and,
ii) Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely represent

payments of principal and interest (SPPI).
A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if any of the following apply:

i) Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding;

ii) It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual
cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell;

iii)At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at FVTPL when doing so
eliminates or materially reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on

them on different bases.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Series Trust considers the contractual
terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term
that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this
condition. In making this assessment, the Series Trust considers:
- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- leverage features;

- prepayment and extension features;

— terms that limit the Series Trust’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non—

recourse features); and

- features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of

interest rates)
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The Series Trust has determined that it has two business models:

— Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents and prepaid fees.

These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

— Other business model: this includes financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(investment in the Selected Fund). These financial assets are managed, and their performance

is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held, the

Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the business is managed, including:

— the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This
includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets
to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realizing cash flows

through the sale of the assets;

— how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Series Trust’s

management;

— the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held

within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

— how the investment manager is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair

value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons

for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are
not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust’s continuing recognition of the
assets.
Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost include payables for investment management fees
distribution fees, fee agent fees, professional fees, administrator fees, agent member company fees
custody fees, transfer agent fees, trustee fees, printing fees and registration fees.

Impairment of financial assets

The ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost and debt

investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments.

Based on the Series Trust’s assessment, the ECL model does not have a material impact on the Series

Trust’ s financial assets because:

— The majority of the financial assets are measured at FVIPL and the impairment requirements do

not apply to such instruments
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- The financial assets at amortized cost are short—term (i.e. no longer than 12 months), of high
credit quality and/or highly collateralized. Accordingly, the ECLs on such assets are expected
to be small.

New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not effective for the year ended January 31,
2025:

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after
February 1, 2024 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Series Trust has not early applied
these new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements as they do not have a material

effect on the Series Trust’s financial statements
2.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Series Trust considers all cash, foreign cash and short—term deposits with original maturity of

three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents.

At January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, the Series Trust held the following balances as cash and cash

equivalents:

2025 2024
Cash $ 8,707 § 11,016
Time deposit 2,480, 342 1, 844, 195
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position $ 2,489,049 §$ 1, 855, 211

2.2 Financial Assets and Liabilities

(A) Classification
The Series Trust classifies financial assets and liabilities into the following categories:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
+  Mandatorily at FVIPL: Investment in the Selected Fund

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss consist of the following:

January 31, 2025 January 31, 2025
- Fair Value - Cost
Investment in Selected Fund $ 76, 064, 356 $ 63, 494, 386
January 31, 2024 January 31, 2024
— Fair Value - Cost
Investment in Selected Fund $ 83,017, 463 $ 76, 598, 587

Financial assets at amortized cost:

+  Cash and cash equivalents and prepaid fees.
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Financial liabilities at amortized cost:
+  Other liabilities: payable for units repurchased, investment management fees, distribution fees,
fee agent fees, professional fees, administrator fees, agent member company fees, custody fees,

transfer agent fees, trustee fee, printing fees and registration fees.

(B) Recognition/Derecognition

The Series Trust recognizes financial assets and liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognized on
the trade date — the date on which the Series Trust commits to purchase or sell the investment
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or the Series Trust has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial

liabilities are derecognized when its contractual obligations are discharged, canceled or expired

(C) Measurement

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair
value with transaction costs recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Subsequent to initial
recognition, all financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise. Realized gains or losses on sale of investments
are calculated using first—in—first—out method. Financial assets and liabilities other than those at
fair value through profit or loss are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method,
less impairment losses, if any. This is considered to approximate fair value due to the short—term or

immediate nature of these instruments.

(D) Fair Value Estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives
and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on the reporting date
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk. Investments or other assets for which market quotations are not
readily available are valued at their fair value as determined in good faith in accordance with
procedures adopted by the Trustee with advice from the Manager. The resulting change in unrealized gains

or losses are reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

(E) Investment in the Selected Fund
In principle, the Investment Manager will invest a majority of the Net Asset Value in the Selected Fund
The HJ USD Share Class of the Selected Fund, into which the Series Trust will invest, is denominated in

USD. The Investment Manager will not invest in non-USD denominated assets (other than JPY cash).
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The Series Trust’s investment in the Selected Fund is subject to the terms and conditions of the
Selected Fund’ s offering documentation. The Series Trust records its investments in the Selected Fund at
fair value based primarily on the Selected Fund’ s Net Asset Value per share, as determined by the
administrator of the Selected Fund. The Series Trust reviews the details of the reported information
obtained from the Selected Fund s administrator and considers: (i) the liquidity of the Selected Fund

or its underlying investments, (ii) the value date of the Net Asset Value per share provided, (iii) any
restrictions on redemptions, and (iv) the basis of accounting. Since the Series Trust invests
substantially all of its assets in the Selected Fund, net capital appreciation or depreciation,
respectively, of the Series Trust is generally based on net capital appreciation or depreciation
respectively, of the Selected Fund. The value of the Series Trust’s investment in the Selected Fund is
based on available information and does not necessarily represent the amount that might ultimately be
realized, as such amount depends on future circumstances and cannot reasonably be denominated until the
Selected Fund’ s underlying investment are actually liquidated. Further, the Series Trust’s investment in
the Selected Fund in indirectly subjected to restrictions, if any, of the liquidity of the Selected

Fund’ s investments.

The Series Trust’s investment in the Selected Fund is considered to be liquid and can be redeemed on any
business day. The Series Trust may at any time request the repurchase of its units at the applicable net

asset value of such units

2.3 Offsetting Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial
Position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. As at
January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, all financial assets and liabilities are shown at their gross
amounts as none met the criteria for financial instrument offsetting, and therefore have not been offset
in the Statement of Financial Position

2.4 Receivables for sale and payables for purchase of investment in the Selected Fund

Receivables for securities sold and payables for securities purchased represent trading transactions
that have been contracted for but not yet settled on the Statement of Financial Position date
respectively. These amounts are recognized initially and subsequently measured at fair value, less
provision for impairment for amounts of receivables for securities sold. A provision for impairment is
established when there is objective evidence that the Series Trust will not be able to collect all
amounts of receivables for securities sold. Significant financial difficulties of the broker
probability that the broker will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization, and default in payments

are considered indicators that the amount of receivables for securities sold is impaired.

2.5 Expenses

Expenses are recognized on an accrual basis in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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2.6 Foreign Currency Translation

(A) Functional and Presentation Currency

The performance of the Series Trust is measured and reported to the investors in U.S. Dollars. The
Trustee considers the U.S. Dollar as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects
of the underlying transactions, events and conditions of the Series Trust. The financial statements are

presented in U.S. Dollars, which is the Series Trust’s functional and presentation currency

(B) Transactions and Balances

Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated in U.S. Dollars
amounts at the date of valuation. Purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities, issue and
repurchase of units and income and expense items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into

U.S. Dollars amounts on the respective dates of such transactions.

Reported net realized or unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from changes in foreign
exchange rates on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are included in
net realized gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and
net change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation on financial assets and liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Realized and unrealized appreciation or depreciation from foreign currency transactions and translation

are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2.7 Distributions

The current distribution policy of the Series Trust is not to make distributions to Unitholders
Consequently, all the Series Trust’s net income and realized capital gains will be reinvested and
reflected in the Net Asset Value of the Series Trust.

There were no distributions declared and paid during the years ended January 31, 2025 and January 31,
2024.

2.8 Repurchases of Units
The Series Trust has units which are repurchased at the holder’s option. The Series Trust classifies its
puttable instruments as liabilities in accordance with IAS 32 (Amendment) “Financial instruments:

Presentation’

The amendment requires puttable financial instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability

to be classified as equity where certain strict criteria are met. Those criteria include:

+  The puttable instruments must entitle the holder to a pro—rata share of net assets;

+  The puttable instruments must be the most subordinated class and class features must be

identical;

+  There must be no contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset other than

the obligation on the issuer to repurchase; and
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+  The total expected cash flows from the puttable instrument over its life must be based

substantially on the profit or loss of the issuer

As these conditions were met, the Series Trust’s units have been classified as equity at January 31,
2025 and January 31, 2024

Units can be put back to the Series Trust at any time for cash equal to a proportionate share of the

Series Trust’s total equity.

Units are carried at the repurchased amount that is payable at the Statement of Financial Position date

if the holder exercises the right to put the units back into the Series Trust.

Units are issued and repurchased at prices based on the Series Trust’s total equity per unit at the time
of issue or repurchase. The Series Trust’s equity per unit is calculated by dividing the total equity by

the total number of outstanding units.

The Selected Fund finances its operations by issuing redeemable shares which are puttable at the
holder’ s option and entitles the holder to a proportional stake in the respective Series Trust’ s net

assets. The Series Trust holds shares in the Selected Fund

The Series Trust’s maximum exposure to loss from its interests in the Selected Fund is equal to the
total fair value of its investments in the Selected Fund. Once the Series Trust has disposed of its

shares in the Selected Fund, the Series Trust ceases to be exposed to any risk from the Selected Fund

2.9 Indemnities

The Trustee and the Manager, on behalf of the Series Trust, enter into certain contracts that contain a
variety of indemnifications. The Series Trust’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown
However, the Series Trust has not had prior claims of losses pursuant to these contracts and expects the

risk of loss to be remote

2.10 Receivables for Units Issued and Payables for Units Repurchased
Receivable for units issued is carried at the issuance amount that is receivable at the Statement of
Financial Position date. Payable for repurchase of units is carried at the repurchase amount that is

payable at the Statement of Financial Position date

2.11 Net income or loss from financial instruments at FVTPL

Net income from financial instruments at FVTPL includes realized and unrealized gains or losses on
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss and interest income. Net realized
gain or loss from financial instruments at FVIPL is calculated using the first in, first out method. Net
realized gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL represents the difference between the
cost of the financial instruments and its settlement price of the sale trade. Net change in unrealized
appreciation or depreciation on financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL represents the difference
between the carrying amount of a financial instrument at the beginning of the period, or the transaction
price if it was purchased in the current reporting period and its carrying amount at the end of the

reporting period. Refer to Note 7 for further details.

Interest income presented on the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprise interest on financial assets

and liabilities at amortized cost calculated on an effective interest basis.
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2.12 Taxation
The Trust has received an undertaking from the Cayman Islands Government exempting it from all local
income, profits and capital gains taxes until December 2, 2063. No such taxes are levied in the Cayman

Islands at the present time.

The Series Trust could incur withholding taxes imposed by certain countries on investment income and
capital gains. Such income or gain would be recorded gross of withholding taxes in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Withholding taxes would be shown as a separate item in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. No withholding tax expense was paid during the years ended January 31, 2025 and
January 31, 2024

The Selected Fund may choose to invest in securities domiciled in countries other than Cayman Islands.

Many of these foreign countries have tax laws which indicate that capital gains taxes may be applicable
to non-residents including the Selected Fund. These capital gains taxes are required to be determined on
a self-assessment basis and, therefore, such taxes may not be deducted by the Selected Fund s broker on

a ‘withholding’ basis

In accordance with IAS 12 - /ncome Taxes, the Series Trust is required to recognize a tax liability when
it is probable that the tax laws of foreign countries require a tax liability to be assessed on the
Series Trust’s capital gains sourced from such foreign country, assuming the relevant taxing authorities
have full knowledge of all the facts and circumstances. The tax liability is then measured at the amount
expected to be paid to the relevant taxation authorities using the tax laws and rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. There is sometimes uncertainty
about the way enacted tax law is applied to offshore investment Series Trusts. This creates uncertainty
about whether or not a tax liability will ultimately be paid by the Series Trust. Therefore, when
measuring any uncertain tax liabilities management considers all of the relevant facts and circumstances
available at the time which could influence the likelihood of payment, including any formal or informal

practices of the relevant tax authorities

As at January 31, 2025, the Manager has determined that the Series Trust did not have a liability to
record for any unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying financial statements. While this represents
the Manager’ s best estimate there remains a risk that the foreign tax authorities will attempt to
collect taxes on capital gains earned by the Series Trust. This could happen without giving prior

warning, possibly on a retrospective basis, and could result in a loss to the Series Trust.

2. 13 Investment in unconsolidated structured entities
The Series Trust has concluded that all investments in the unlisted Selected Fund, in which it holds an

interest but does not consolidate, meets the definition of structured entities due to the following:

+  the voting rights in these entities are not the dominant rights in deciding who controls them as
they relate to administrative tasks only;

+  the entities’ activities are restricted by their respective investment strategy or offering
documents; and

+  these entities have a narrow and well-defined objective to provide investment opportunities to

investors.

The nature of and risks associated with the Series Trust’s interest in the other funds are disclosed in
Note b.
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3. REPURCHASES OF UNITS

The Net Asset Value of each unit of the Series Trust is calculated by dividing the Net Asset Value of
the Series Trust by the total number of units of the Series Trust then outstanding. The Administrator

computes the Net Asset Value of the Series Trust at the close of business on each dealing day.
The price of units, for all purposes, is calculated and paid in U.S. Dollars

The minimum initial subscription must be no less than 1 unit. All unitholders must complete a

subscription application

The initial purchase price of units is $100 per unit. All payments for the units must be made in U.S.

Dollars. The Trustee may reject any subscription for any reason and without providing reasons

After the initial issue of units, an eligible investor may subscribe for units on any subsequent
subscription date at the relevant subscription price. All payments for the units shall be made in U.S
Dollars.

The Trustee or its duly designated agent must receive the subscription price for the units on or prior
to 5:30 p.m. (Japan time) by no later than the second business day after the relevant subscription date.

Subscription applications are irrevocable

The total net assets, units outstanding and net asset value per unit as of January 31, 2025 were as

follows:

Net Asset Value per
Classes of units Total net assets Units outstanding unit
USD Class Units $ 78,412, 331 683, 169 $ 114. 7774

The total net assets, units outstanding and net asset value per unit as of January 31, 2024 were as

follows:

Net Asset Value per
Classes of units Total net assets Units outstanding unit
USD Class Units $ 84, 578, 609 805, 660 $ 104. 9805

As of January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, all issued units were held by one unitholder, who holds

100% of interest in the net assets

A unitholder may transfer its holdings in units only with the prior written consent of the Trustee which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. No transfer of units will be effective and

binding on the Trustee or unitholder until entered into the Series Trust’s register of unitholders.

Each unitholder may submit to the Trustee or its duly designated agent a repurchase notice requesting to
have all or a portion of its units repurchased at the Repurchase Price on the relevant repurchase date.
Repurchase orders may be submitted in units. If such notice is not in respect of the entire holding
units of such unitholder recorded in the register of unitholders, then the Trustee in its sole

discretion may apply a minimum repurchase requirement of 1 unit. Repurchase notices are irrevocable
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At the time of each repurchase of units prior to the Final Repurchase Day, no repurchase fee is applied
to each unit being repurchased.

Amounts payable to the unitholder in connection with the repurchase of units of any class are paid in
cash but may be made in kind (or partially in kind) by the distribution of securities held by the
Trustee to the extent that the Trustee, in consultation with the Manager, determines it to be in the
best interests of the unitholder. If such a determination is made by the Trustee, distributions to all

repurchasing unitholders on the same day are made on the same basis

Payment may also be made in such other currency that may be freely purchased with such applicable
currency as a unitholder may request, provided that any foreign exchange cost shall be deducted from the
amount payable to such unitholder. No such repurchase proceeds will bear interest prior to actual
distribution

During the year ended January 31, 2025, the proceeds from units issued and repurchased were as follows:

Proceeds from units Proceeds from units
Classes of units issued repurchased

USD Class Units $ 295,138 § (13,617, 818)

During the year ended January 31, 2024, the proceeds from units issued and repurchased were as follows:

Proceeds from units Proceeds from units
Classes of units issued repurchased

USD Class Units $ 180,940 $ (21, 050, 212)

During the years ended January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, the number of units issued, repurchased

and outstanding were as follows:

At At
Classes of units January 31, 2024 Units issued Units repurchased January 31, 2025
USD Class Units 805, 660 2,651 (125, 142) 683, 169
At At
Classes of units January 31, 2023 Units issued Units repurchased January 31, 2024
USD Class Units 1,011, 245 1,769 (207, 354) 805, 660

The issue and repurchase of units and payments in respect of such transactions will be suspended in any
circumstances where the calculation of the Net Asset Value per unit is suspended. The Trustee will
inform unitholder of such a suspension as soon as practicable after it is imposed or lifted
Subscription applications and repurchase notices cannot be withdrawn during such suspension and will be

processed for the next subscription date or repurchase date, as the case may be.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities. Estimates are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The Series Trust may, from time to time, hold financial instruments that are not quoted in
active markets, such as over—the—counter derivatives. Fair values of such instruments are determined by
using valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair

values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by the Manager
5. FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

5.1 Principal Risk Factors of the Series Trust

The Series Trust’s investment portfolio mainly comprises of the Selected Fund. The Series Trust’s
activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The management of these risks is carried out

by the Manager under policies approved by the Trustee.

The Series Trust may be materially affected by the actions of another entity investing in the Selected
Fund. For example, if another unitholder of the Selected Fund repurchases some or all of its interests
in the Selected Fund, the Selected Fund and, in turn, the Series Trust, may experience higher pro rata
operating expenses, thereby producing lower returns. Similarly, the Selected Fund may become less
diverse due to repurchases from its other unitholders, resulting in increased portfolio risk. The
Selected Fund may restrict its investment activities or be precluded from investing in certain
instruments due to regulatory restrictions on certain of its direct or indirect investors or otherwise

which may have an adverse effect on the performance of the Selected Fund, and, in turn, the Series Trust.
(A) Market Risk

(i) Currency Risk

All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents and other assets
and liabilities held by the Series Trust are denominated in U.S. Dollars, thus the Manager believes that
the Series Trust has little currency risk exposure and is not subject to risk due to direct fluctuations
in the prevailing levels of foreign currency rates. At January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, the Series
Trust was not exposed to direct currency risk

Investment in the Selected Fund in which the Series Trust invests may be denominated or quoted in
currencies other than the functional currency of the Series Trust. For this reason, changes in foreign

currency exchange rates can affect the value of the Series Trust’s portfolio

Generally, when the Series Trust’s functional currency rises in value against another currency, a
security denominated in that currency loses value because the currency is worth less giving effect to
the conversion into the Series Trust’s functional currency. Conversely, when the Series Trust’s
functional currency decreases in value against another currency, a security denominated in that currency

gains value.
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This risk, generally known as “currency risk,” means that a strong functional currency of the Series
Trust may reduce returns to investors while a weak functional currency of the Series Trust may increase
those returns. Currency rates may fluctuate significantly over short periods of time for a number of
reasons, including changes in interest rates, intervention (or the failure to intervene) by the
governments, central banks or supranational entities such as the International Monetary Fund, or by the
imposition of currency controls or other political developments. As a result, the Series Trust’ s
investments in foreign—currency denominated securities may reduce its returns. Certain positions taken
by the Series Trust are designed to profit from forecasting currency price movements. Predicting future
prices is inherently uncertain and the losses incurred, if the market moves against a position, will not
be hedged. The speculative aspect of attempting to predict absolute price movements is generally

perceived to exceed that involved in attempting to predict relative price fluctuations.

(ii) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that prices of fixed income securities generally increase when interest
rates decline and decrease when interest rates increase. Prices of longer term securities generally
change more in response to interest rate changes than prices of shorter term securities. The Series
Trust may lose money if short—-term or long—term interest rates rise sharply or otherwise change in a
manner not anticipated by Series Trust management. When interest rates fluctuate, the duration of the
security may be used as an indication of the degree of change in the debt price of the debt security
The bigger the security s duration value, the larger the change in the price of the debt security for a

given movement in interest rates may be. Therefore, the Net Asset Value may fluctuate

Interest bearing assets held by the Series Trust are comprised of cash and cash equivalents whose

maturity is less than three months and indirectly the investment in the Selected Fund

The yield on the Selected Fund’ s (and indirectly, the Series Trust’s) investments may be sensitive to
changes in prevailing interest rates, which may result in a mismatch between the Selected Fund s asset

yield and borrowing rates and consequently reduce or eliminate income derived from its investments.

A major change in interest rates or a significant decline in the market value of the Selected Fund s
(and indirectly, the Trust’s) investments, or other market event, could cause the value of the
investments of the Selected Fund' s investors (and indirectly the unitholders’ investments in the Series
Trust), or its yield, to decline. Interest bearing assets held by the Selected Fund and the Series Trust
are comprised of cash and cash equivalents whose maturity is less than three months. As a result, the
Series Trust is not subject to any significant risk or direct significant exposures to fair value

interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates.

At January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, should interest rates have lowered or risen by 50 basis points
with all other variables remaining constant, the increase or decrease in total comprehensive income of
the Series Trust (being increase in net assets attributable to the holder of redeemable units from
operations for the period) would amount to approximately $12,402 and $9, 221, respectively, assuming that
the cash position will be held for one year.
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(iii) Market Price Risk

The market price of investments owned by the Series Trust and securities held by the Selected Fund may
go up or down, sometimes rapidly or unpredictably. Securities may decline in value due to factors
affecting securities markets generally or particular industries represented in the securities markets
The value of a security may decline due to general market conditions which are not specifically related
to a particular company, such as real or perceived adverse economic conditions, supply and demand for
particular securities or instruments, changes in the general outlook for corporate earnings, changes in
interest or currency rates or adverse investor sentiment. They may also decline due to factors which
affect a particular industry or industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and
competitive conditions within an industry. During a general downturn in the securities markets, multiple
asset classes may decline in value simultaneously. Equity securities generally have greater price

volatility than fixed income securities.

An increase in market prices of the investment in the Selected Fund of 1% at January 31, 2025 and
January 31, 2024 would have increased the total equity by $760, 644 and $830, 175, respectively. A

decrease of 1% would, all else being equal, have an equal but opposite effect.

For the Selected Fund, the investments are primarily concentrated in the United States and Luxembourg at
January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024

(B) Credit Risk

Changes in an issuer’ s credit rating or the market’ s perception of an issuer’ s creditworthiness may
affect the value of the Series Trust’s investment in that issuer. The degree of credit risk depends on
both the financial condition of the issuer and the terms of the obligation

Due to its investment in the Selected Fund, the Series Trust is exposed to the credit risk associated
with instruments that may be held by the Selected Fund. The increased credit risk may prevent the
Selected Fund’ s investment objective and consequently the Series Trust’s investment objective from being
achieved. All transactions in listed securities held by the Selected Fund are settled/paid for upon
delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities
sold is only made once the broker has received payment. Payment is made on a purchase once the
securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet their

obligation.

The Investment Manager monitors the Series Trust’s credit position on an on—going basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of all financial assets of the Series Trust as of January 31, 2025
and January 31, 2024, is the carrying amounts as shown on the Statement of Financial Position. No
collateral or other credit enhancements are held by the Series Trust. None of these assets are impaired

or past due

The clearing and depository operations for the Selected Fund s security transactions are mainly
concentrated with the Custodian. At January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, substantially all cash and
cash equivalents and investments, exposed to credit risk held by the Selected Fund, are placed in
custody with the Custodian, with a Fitch credit rating of A+
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(C) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk exists when particular investments are difficult to purchase or sell. The Series Trust’s
investments in illiquid securities may reduce the returns of the Series Trust because it may be unable
to sell the illiquid securities at an advantageous time or price. To the extent that the Series Trust’ s
principal investment strategies involve derivatives or securities with substantial market and/or credit

risk, the Series Trust will tend to have the greatest exposure to liquidity risk.

The table below analyzes the Series Trust’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity grouping based
on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity date

The amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

At January 31, 2025 Less than 1 month 1 - 3 months Total
Payables for:
Investment management fees 92,906 $ 92, 906
Professional fees 34, 390 34, 390
Distribution fees 33, 282 33, 282
Fee agent fees 31, 838 31, 838
Administrator fees 8, 020 8, 020
Printing fees 7,063 7,063
Units repurchased 4, 590 4, 590
Custody fees 3, 638 3, 638
Agent member company fees 2,653 2,653
Transfer agent fees 2,243 2,243
Registration fees 646 646
Cossaorel o o s (peludog o s 1,0
At January 31, 2024 Less than 1 month 1 — 3 months Total
Payables for:
Units repurchased 179,020 $ 179, 020
Investment management fees 118, 256 118, 256
Distribution fees 28, 389 28, 389
Professional fees 17, 251 17, 251
Custody fees 15, 209 15, 209
Administrator fees 10, 285 10, 285
Transfer agent fees 8,991 8,991
Fee agent fees 6, 813 6, 813
Trustee fees 2,765 2,765
Agent member company fees 513 513
Contractual cash out flows (excluding net assets 387,492 $ 387, 492

attributable to the holder of redeemable units)

The Manager monitors the Series Trust’s liquidity position on an on-going basis

Liquidity risk is managed by investing no more than 15% of the Net Asset Value in illiquid assets

There were no Series Trust s derivative financial instruments at January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024,

with gross settlement
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Due to its investment in the Selected Fund, the Series Trust is exposed to the liquidity risk associated
with unitholder repurchases in accordance with the terms in the Selected Fund’ s Prospectus. The Series
Trust is managed to include liquid investments sufficient to meet normal liquidity needs although
substantial repurchases of Units in the Series Trust could require the Selected Fund to liquidate its
investments more rapidly than otherwise desirable in order to raise cash for the repurchases. The
redemption price for Selected Fund s shares is equal to the Net Asset Value of each share, calculated on
a forward pricing basis at the relevant valuation day. A commission paid to financial intermediaries
and/or distributors may be deducted from this amount, representing up to 3.00% of the Net Asset Value
per share. The redemption price will also be reduced to cover any duties, taxes and stamp duties to be
paid. The management of Selected Fund is authorized to apply corrections of the Net Asset Value for
swing pricing and/or charge a dilution levy on the redemption price, representing up to 2.00% of the Net
Asset Value per share. These factors could adversely affect the value of the units repurchased

valuation of the units that remain outstanding and the liquidity of the Series Trust’s remaining assets

if more liquid assets have been sold to meet the repurchases

There were no repurchase fees applied in respect to the Selected Fund for the years ended January 31,
2025 and January 31, 2024

(D) Risk Management
The Series Trust’s Investment Manager s team is supported by certain risk management systems and

professionals, which provide regular reporting on all portfolio positions and quantitative risk measures.

The capital of the Series Trust is represented by the net assets attributable to the holder of
redeemable units. The amount of net assets attributable to the holder of redeemable units can change
significantly on a daily basis as the Series Trust is subject to daily subscriptions and repurchases at
the discretion of the unitholder. The Series Trust’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the
Series Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for the unitholder and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the
investment activities of the Series Trust. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the

Series Trust’s policy is to perform the following:

+  Monitor the level of daily subscriptions and repurchases relative to the liquid assets and

adjust the amount of distributions the Series Trust pays to the holder of redeemable units.

+  Repurchase and issue new units in accordance with the constitutional documents of the Series
Trust.

The Manager monitors capital on the basis of the value of net assets attributable to the holder of

redeemable units.
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5.2 Additional Series Trust’s Risks

(A) Custody Risk

Neither the Trustee nor the Manager controls the custodianship of the Series Trust’s entire holding of
indirect investments. The Custodian or other banks or brokerage firms selected to act as custodians may
become insolvent, causing the Series Trust to lose all or a portion of the funds or securities held by

those custodians

(B) Risk of Indemnification

The Trustee, the Manager, the Administrator, the Custodian, and other parties, and each of their
respective agents, principals, officers, employees, and affiliates are entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Series Trust under certain circumstances which may result in a decrease in Net Asset

Value per unit.

(C) Settlement Risk

Settlement and clearance procedures in certain foreign markets differ significantly from those in the
United States, the European Union and Japan. Foreign settlement and clearance procedures and trade
regulations may also involve certain risks (such as delays in payment for or delivery of securities) not
typically associated with the settlement of United States investments. At times, settlements in certain
foreign countries have not kept pace with the number of securities transactions. These problems may make
it difficult for the Selected Fund and ultimately, the Manager to carry out transactions for the account
of the Series Trust. If the Manager cannot settle or is delayed in settling a purchase of securities, it
may miss attractive investment opportunities and some of the Series Trust’ s assets may be uninvested

with no return earned thereon for some period

If the Selected Fund and ultimately, the Manager cannot settle or is delayed in settling a sale of
securities, the Series Trust may lose money if the value of the underlying security then declines or, if
it has contracted to sell the security to another party, the Series Trust could be liable for any losses

incurred.

(D) Derivatives

The Manager may use derivative instruments to hedge the Series Trust’s investments or to seek to enhance
the Series Trust’s returns. Derivatives allow the risk exposure of the Series Trust to increase or
decrease more quickly and efficiently than other types of instruments. Derivatives are volatile and

involve significant risks, including:

«  Credit Risk - the risk that the counterparty (the party on the other side of the transaction) on

a derivative transaction will be unable to honor its financial obligation to the Series Trust

+  Leverage Risk — the risk associated with certain types of investments or trading strategies that
relatively small market movements may result in large changes in the value of an investment.
Certain investments or trading strategies that involve leverage can result in losses that

greatly exceed the amount originally invested.
+  Liquidity Risk — the risk that certain securities may be difficult or impossible to sell at the

time that the seller would like or at the price that the seller believes the security is
currently worth
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The Manager may use derivatives for hedging purposes for the Series Trust, including anticipatory hedges.
Hedging is a strategy in which the Manager uses a derivative to offset the risks associated with other
Series Trust’s holdings. While hedging can reduce losses, it can also reduce or eliminate gains or cause
losses if the market moves in a manner different from that anticipated by the Manager or if the cost of
the derivative outweighs the benefit of the hedge. Hedging also involves the risk that changes in the
value of the derivative will not match those of the holdings being hedged as expected by the Manager, in
which case any losses on the holdings being hedged may not be reduced and may be increased. There is no
assurance that the Series Trust’s hedging strategy will reduce risk or that hedging transactions are
either available or cost effective. The Manager is not required to use hedging for the Series Trust and
may choose not to do so. Because the Manager may use derivatives to seek to enhance the Series Trust’s
returns, its investments will expose the Series Trust to the risks outlined above to a greater extent
than if the Manager used derivatives solely for hedging purposes. Use of derivatives to seek to enhance

returns is considered speculative

As of January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, there were no Series Trust derivative assets and derivative

liabilities subject to netting arrangements and similar arrangements

(E) Counterparty and Broker Risk

The financial institutions and counterparties, including banks and brokerage firms, such as the
Custodian, with which the Manager or its delegate trades or invests for the account of the Series Trust
may encounter financial difficulties and default on their respective obligations owed in respect of the
Series Trust. Any such default could result in material losses to the Series Trust. In addition, the
Manager may pledge collateral for the account of the Series Trust to the counterparties in order to
secure certain transactions. No collateral was pledged by the Manager during the years ended January 31,
2025 and January 31, 2024

The Series Trust has not offset any financial assets or financial liabilities in the Statement of

Financial Position.

(F) No Interest in the Selected Fund
The return on the units depends, amongst other things, on the performance of the Selected Fund. An

investment in units does not give a unitholder a direct interest in the Selected Fund.

(6) Early Termination of the Series Trust
Although the Final Repurchase Day of the Series Trust is scheduled for December 1, 2163, the Final
Repurchase Day will be brought forward should a Compulsory Repurchase Event occur.

5.3 Fair Value Estimation and Hierarchy Designation
The Series Trust applies IFRS Accounting Standard 13 Fair value measurement and utilizes the last traded

market price for its fair valuation inputs for both financial assets and liabilities.

An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient

frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
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The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined
by using valuation techniques. The Series Trust uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at each period end date. Valuation techniques used for non—
standardized financial instruments such as options, currency swaps and other over—the—counter
derivatives, include the use of comparable recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and
other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants making the maximum use of market inputs
and relying as little as possible on entity—specific inputs

For instruments for which there is no active market, the Series Trust may use internally developed
models, which are usually based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognized as standard
within the industry. Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore
estimated based on assumptions. The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value
that cannot be determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all
factors relevant to the positions the Series Trust holds. Valuations are therefore adjusted, where

appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risk, liquidity risk and counterparty risk

The Series Trust classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

+ Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

+  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorized in its
entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair
value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require
significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a Level 3 measurement.
Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires

judgment, considering factors specific to the asset or liability

The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant judgment by the Administrator,
under advisement of the Manager. The Administrator, under advisement of the Manager, considers
observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated
reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved

in the relevant market
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The following is a summary of the fair valuations according to the inputs used as of January 31, 2025 in

valuing the Series Trust’s financial assets:

(Unadjusted) Quoted Significant Significant
Prices in Active Other Observable Unobservable

Financial Assets at Fair Markets for Identical Inputs Inputs Fair Value at
Value Through Profit or Loss Investments (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) January 31, 2025
Investment in the Selected Fund
HJ USD Share Class of Pictet TR -
Atlas $ - $ 76,064,356 § - $ 76, 064, 356
Financial assets, at fair value
through profit or loss $ - 3 76, 064, 356 $ - 3 76, 064, 356

The following is a summary of the fair valuations according to the inputs used as of January 31, 2024 in

valuing the Series Trust’s financial assets:

(Unadjusted) Quoted Significant Significant
Prices in Active Other Observable Unobservable

Financial Assets at Fair Markets for Identical Inputs Inputs Fair Value at
Value Through Profit or Loss Investments (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) January 31, 2024
Investment in the Selected Fund
HJ USD Share Class of Pictet TR -
Atlas $ - 83,017,463 § - $ 83,017, 463
Financial assets, at fair value
through profit or loss $ - 8 83,017,463 § - $ 83,017, 463

During the years ended January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024 there were no transfers between Levels 1, 2
and 3.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs
are classified within Level 2. These include over—the—counter derivatives and equity securities. As
Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are subject to
transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability,

which are generally based on available market information
Financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss

(i) At January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024 cash and cash equivalents and all other assets and
liabilities (including prepaid fees and payables for units repurchased, investment management
fees, fee agent fees, professional fees, distribution fees, administrator fees, agent member
company fees, custody fees, transfer agent fees, trustee fees, printing fees and registration
fees) are deemed short—term financial assets and liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate
fair value because of their short—term nature. Refer to Note 2 for a description of the
valuation techniques
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5.4 Investments in unconsolidated structured entities

The primary investment objective of the Selected Fund is to achieve long—term capital growth in absolute
terms with a strong focus on capital preservation by following a set of long/short investment strategies.
Traditional long positions are coupled with (synthetic) long and short positions, which will be achieved
through the use of financial derivative instruments. The Selected Fund will mainly invest in equities,
equity related securities (such as but not limited to ordinary or preferred shares), deposits and money
market instruments. The Selected Fund may invest in any country (including emerging countries), in any
economic sector and in any currency. However, depending on market conditions, the investments or
exposure may be focused on one country or on a limited number of countries and/or one economic activity
sector and/or one currency and/or in a single asset class. The Selected Fund diversifies investment in
undervalued stocks (long positions) and overvalued stocks (short positions) with focusing on the
mispriced stock prices mainly from a wide range of global stock markets. The Selected Fund carries out
stock selection and determines investment allocation based on detailed top—down analysis (macro
analysis) and bottom—up fundamental analysis (individual stock analysis). The Selected Fund aims to
maximize risk—adjusted returns by combining stock selection and active market exposure management in
building a portfolio of the Selected Fund. The Selected Fund also aims to achieve a stable return whilst
minimizing the impact of equity markets by changing long/short investment allocations actively on a

region, country or industry basis

As of January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024 the Selected Fund s net asset value were EUR2, 120, 669, 750
($2, 197, 437, 995) and EUR2, 108, 270, 000 ($2, 280, 726, 486), respectively

The Selected Fund held investments comprising of equity securities (common stocks and units of

investment funds), futures contacts, forwards contracts and options contracts.

The valuation of investments in unconsolidated structured entities represents the amount the Series
Trust would expect to receive if it were to liquidate or redeem its investments subject to the

underlying fund’ s liquidity or redemption restrictions and costs.

The rights attached to the Series Trust’s holding in the Selected Fund is similar to those of other
investors. Subscriptions into the Selected Fund are governed by the rights stipulated in their offering
documents. The Series Trust has the ability to liquidate or redeem its investments periodically in

accordance with the provisions of the respective fund agreements

6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Forward Contracts

The Investment Manager for the Selected Fund enters into forward foreign currency contracts which are
contractual obligations to receive or deliver a fixed quantity of foreign currency for an agreed-upon
price on an agreed future date. These contracts are valued daily based on the difference between the
forward foreign exchange rates at the dates of entry into the contracts and the forward rate at the

measurement date

As of January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, there were no open forward contracts in the Series Trust
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7. NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON FINANCTAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

January 31, 2025 January 31, 2024
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss consist of
the following:
Net realized gain on investments in the Selected Fund $ 1,711, 400 $ 907, 226
}“215;;31 net realized gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or $ 1,711, 400 $ 907, 226
gzzgment in net unrealized appreciation on investments in the Selected $ 6, 151, 094 $ 5,211, 681
Total net change in unrealized appreciation on financial assets at fair value $ 6,151, 094 $ 5,211, 681

through profit or loss

8. FEES, EXPENSES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
8.1 Fees and Expenses

(A) Administrator Fees

The Administrator receives an annual fee of 0.06% on the first US$500 million of the net assets, 0.05%
on the next US$500 million of the net assets and 0.04% on the net assets over US$1 billion, subject to a
monthly minimum fee of §3, 750. The fees earned by the Administrator during the years ended January 31,
2025 and January 31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Administrator as of January 31, 2025 and
January 31, 2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of

Financial Position, respectively

(B) Custody Fees

The Custodian receives an annual fee of 0.025% of Net Assets Value. The fees earned by the Custodian
during the years ended January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the
Custodian as of January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of

Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial Position, respectively

(C) Distribution Fees

The Distributor receives an annual fee of 0.50% of the Net Asset Value payable monthly in arrears. The
Distribution Fees are payable by the Administrator, on behalf of the Manager, out of the assets of the
Series Trust. The fees earned by the Distributor during the years ended January 31, 2025 and January 31,
2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Distributor as of January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, have
been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial Position,

respectively.

(D) Transfer Agent Fees

The Transfer Agent receives an annual fee of 0.01% of the Net Asset Value and a $10 fee per transaction
out of the assets of the Series Trust. The fees earned by the Transfer Agent during the years ended
January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Transfer Agent as January 31,
2025 and January 31, 2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the

Statement of Financial Position, respectively
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(E) Professional Fees

Professional fees include legal and audit fees. The fees paid during the years ended January 31, 2025
and January 31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Transfer Agent as of January 31, 2025 and
January 31, 2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of

Financial Position, respectively

8.2 Related Party Transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The Trustee,

Fee Agent, Manager and Agent Member Company are all related parties to the Series Trust.
There were no other transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of business.

(A) Trustee Fees

The Trustee is entitled to receive out of the Operational Costs Fee a fixed annual fee of $10, 000
payable annually in advance. The fees earned by the Trustee during the years ended January 31, 2025 and
January 31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Trustee as of January 31, 2025 and January 31,
2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial

Position, respectively

(B) Fee Agent Fees

The Fee Agent receives an annual fee of 0.12% of Net Assets Value (the “Operational Costs Fees”) accrued
on and calculated as at each valuation day. The Operational Costs Fees are paid by the Administrator, on
behalf of the Trustee out of the assets of the Series Trust. The fees earned by the Fee Agent during the
years ended January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Fee Agent as of
January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and

the Statement of Financial Position, respectively

The Fee Agent is responsible for paying the Manager Fees, the Trustee Fees and costs and expenses, which
are, in the reasonable judgement of the Fee Agent, determined as associated costs and expenses of the

Manager Fees and Trustee Fees (the “Ordinary Costs”).

For the avoidance of doubt, the Fee Agent is not responsible for the payment of the investment manager
fees, audit fees, formation expenses, distribution fees, administration fees, custody fees, agent member
company fees, any broker fees relating to security transactions, any legal and auditing costs that are
not included in the audit fees and expenses, annual fees payable in respect of the Series Trust or the
Trust to government bodies and agencies, any insurance costs, any costs relating to the Offering
Memorandum and Appendix 37 and other similar offering documents and the costs relating to the
preparation, printing, translation and delivery of such documents and any taxes relating to the purchase
or disposal of securities, legal or compensation costs, licensing, tax reporting, anti—money laundering
compliance and monitoring, expenses related to the termination or the liquidation of the Series Trust

and any other extraordinary costs and expenses that would not usually occur.

To the extent that the Operational Costs Fee is not sufficient to cover the Ordinary Costs, the Fee
Agent is liable for any outstanding amounts. Any amounts remaining following payment of the Ordinary
Costs shall be retained by the Fee Agent as its remuneration for acting as fee agent in respect of the

Series Trust
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The Operational Costs Fees accrue daily on an actual / 365 day count fraction basis and are payable
quarterly in arrears in the amount accrued, from and excluding, for the first accrual period only, the

initial closing day, and for all other accrual periods, the last day of each calendar quarter.

(C) Manager Fees

The Manager is entitled to receive out of the Operational Costs Fee, a management fee of $5,000 per
annum payable monthly in arrears. The fees earned by the Manager during the years ended January 31, 2025
and January 31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Manager as of January 31, 2025 and January 31,
2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial

Position, respectively, as a part of fee agent fees.

(D) Agent Member Company Fees

The Agent Member Company is entitled to receive a fee of 0.01% per annum of the Net Asset Value payable
quarterly in arrears. The Agent Member Company Fees are paid by the Administrator, on behalf of the
Manager out of the assets of the Series Trust. The fees earned by the Agent Member Company during the
years ended January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Agent Member
Company as of January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of

Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial Position, respectively

(E) Investment Manager

The Investment Manager receives an annual fee of 0.20% of the Net Asset Value payable quarterly in
arrears. The fees earned by the Investment Manager during the years ended January 31, 2025 and January
31, 2024, and outstanding fees payable to the Investment Manager as of January 31, 2025 and January 31,
2024, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial

Position, respectively
9. BORROWING AND LEVERAGE POLICY

The Series Trust may borrow up to 10% of its Net Asset Value if required to facilitate short term cash
flows. During the years ended January 31, 2025 and January 31, 2024, the Series Trust did not incur any

borrowings.

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Trustee has evaluated all subsequent transactions and events through May 28, 2025, the date on which
these financial statements were available to be issued. Effective February 1, 2025 through May 28, 2025,

there were subscriptions of $900, 806 and repurchases of $1,541,526. There are no other subsequent events

to report as relates to the Series Trust.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the sole member of UBS Management (Cayman) Limited
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of UBS Management (Cayman) Limited (the "Company"),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of its financial performance and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 1

— 189 —



EY=x

Independent auditor’s report (continued)
To the sole member of UBS Management (Cayman) Limited
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

Ty

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
21 May 2025

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 2
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes 2024 2023
usD usoD
REVENUE
Management fee income 4 170,000 185,000
Other incomes 4 62,322 60,009
232,322 245,009
EXPENSES
Audit fee 4.340 6,390
Directors’ fee 9(c) 107,053 108,643
Other expenses 5,015 48
TOTAL EXPENSES 116,408 115,081
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 115,914 129,928
Tax expense ] - -
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 115,914 129,928

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
3
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2024

Notes 2024 2023
usD usD
ASSETS
Management fee receivable 7 170,000 185,000
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary 9(a) 864 864
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,955,991 2,249,019
Total assets 2,126,855 2,434,883
LIABILITIES
Amount due to an immediate holding company 9(b) 23,303 16,752
Directors’ fee payable - 428,396
Accruals 4,339 6,436
Total liabilities 27,642 451,584
NET ASSETS 2,099,213 1,983,299
EQUITY
Share capital 8 735,000 735,000
Retained profits 1,364,213 1,248,299
Total equity 2,099,213 1,983,299

NicolasﬁH}ﬁ'ri Jean Papavoine
Directo

The accompanying notes form an irtegral part of these financial statements.
4
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED

(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024

At 1 January 2023

Profit for the year and total comprehensive
income for the vear

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

Profit for the year and total comprehensive
income for the year

At 31 December 2024

Share Retained
capital profits Total
usD usD usD
735,000 1,118,371 1,853,371
- 129,928 129,928
735,000 1,248,299 1,883,299
- 115,914 115,914
735,000 1,364,213 2,099,213
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED

(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Interest income

Decrease in management fee receivable

Increase/(decrease) in amount due to an immediate
holding company

(Decrease)/ increase in directors’ fee payable

Decrease in accruals

Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities
Interest income received

Net cash flows (used in)/generated
from operating activities

NET (DECREASE)/ INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 6

2024 2023
usD usD
115,914 129,928
(62,436) (60,034)
53,478 69,894
15,000 20,000
8,551 (313,301)
(428,396) 428,396
(2,097) (37)
(355,464) 204,952
62,436 60,034
(293,028) 264,986
(293,028) 264,986
2,249,019 1,984,033
1,955,991 2,249,019
1,955,991 2,249,019

The accompanying note form an integral part of these financial statements.

6
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

21

CORPORATE INFORMATION

UBS Management (Cayman) Limited (the “Company’) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 4 January 2000 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act, Cap.22 of the Cayman Islands. The Company's registered office is Maples
Corporate Services Limited, P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands.

The Company's principal activities are the creation of trusts and the administration and
management of assets in trusts.

On 12 June 2023, UBS Group AG acquired Credit Suisse Group AG, succeeding by
operation of Swiss law to all assets and liabilities of Credit Suisse Group AG, and became
the direct or indirect shareholder of all of the former direct and indirect subsidiaries of Credit
Suisse Group AG (the “Transaction”). The Company was one of the indirect subsidiaries of
Credit Suisse Group AG included in this Transaction.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, each outstanding, registered Credit Suisse share
converted to the right to receive, subject to the payment of certain fees to the Credit Suisse
depository in the case of Credit Suisse American depository shares, the merger
consideration consisting of 1/22.48 UBS Group AG shares. In aggregate, Credit Suisse
shareholders received 5.1% of the outstanding UBS Group AG shares on the acquisition
date, with a purchase price of USD3.7 hillion.

In December 2023, the Board of Directors of UBS Group AG approved the merger of UBS
AG and Credit Suisse AG, and both entities entered into a definitive merger agreement. The
merger is completed on 31 May 2024,

On 1 March 2024, the Board of Directors has approved to change the name from Credit
Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited) to UBS Management (Cayman) Limited.

The ultimate holding company is UBS Group AG, a company incorporated in Switzerland.
The directors regarded Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited as the immediate holding
company and UBS AG as the intermediate holding company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with I[FRS
Accounting Standards issued by International Accounting Standards Board ((IASB”). These
financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets
and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

21

22

23

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

These financial statements are presented in United States Dallars (*USD™) and all values are
rounded to the nearest USD, except where otherwise indicated.

The statement of financial position presents assets and liabilities in order of liquidity and does
not distinguish between current and non-current items.

Certain prior period comparative figures are reclassified to conform with current year
presentation.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The accounting principles adopted in the current period are consistent with those of the prior
year. There are no cther standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that
are effective for the current financial period that have a material impact on the Company.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Company has not early applied any of the new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the accounting year ended 31 December
2024 in these financial statements. Among the new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards,
the following is expected to be relevant to the Company's financial statements upon
becoming effective:

IFRS 18 Presentation and Discfosure in Financial Statements

In April 2024, the 1ASB issued IFRS 18, which replaces IAS 1 FPresentation of Financial
Statements. IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within the statement of
profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of five
categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations,
whereof the first three are new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management-defined performance measures,
subtotals of income and expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of financial information based on the identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial
statements (PFS) and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made to |IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows,
which include changing the starting point for determining cash flows from operations under
the indirect method, from ‘profit or loss’ to ‘operating profit or loss’ and removing the
optionality around classification of cash flows from dividends and interest. In addition, there
are consequential amendments to several other standards. IFRS 18, and the amendments
tothe other standards, is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027,
but earlier application is permitted and must be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively.

The Company is currently working to identify all impacts the amendments will have on the
primary financial statements and notes to the financial statements.
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Lack of exchangeability — Amendments to IAS 21

In August 2023, the IASB issued amendments to |IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates to specify how an entity should assess whether a currency is exchangeable
and how it should determine a spot exchange rate when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments also require disclosure of information that enables users of its financial
statements to understand how the currency not being exchangeable into the other currency
affects, or is expected to affect, the entity’s financial performance, financial position and cash
flows.

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025. Early adoption is permitted, but will need to be disclosed. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial
statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Company if:
a) The party is a person of a close member of that person's family and that person.
i) has control or joint control over the Company;
i) has significant influence over the Company; or
iiy is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of
the Company;

or

b) The party is an entity where any of the following condition applies:

i) the entity and the Company are members of the same group;

i)y one entity is an associate or joint ventures of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

i)y the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the same third party;

iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and cther entity is an associate of the
third entity;

v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Company or an entity related to the Company;

vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

vii) a person identified in (a)({i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
ofthe key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the Company or to the parent of the
Company.
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and

at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three
months that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting short- term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits, as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management.

Einancial instruments

(i} Classification
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial assets and financial
liabilities at initial recognition into the categories of financial assets and financial liabilities
discussed below.

In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be

held for trading if:

(a)lt is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the
near term; or

(b)On initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which, there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

(c)lt is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a
designated and effective hedging instrument)

Financial assets

The Company classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost
or measured at F\VVPL on the basis of both:

« The entity’s business model for managing the financial assets

« The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. The Company
includes in this category short-term non-financing receivables.

Financial assets measured af fair value through profit or loss ("FVPL’)

A financial asset is measured at FVPL if:

(a)lts contractual terms do net give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are SPPI
on the principal amount outstanding; or

(b) It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual
cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell; or

(c) At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at FVPL when doing so
eliminates o significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains
and losses on them on different bases.

10
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

M

(in

Classification (continued)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at FVPL

A financial liability is measured at FVPL if it meets the definition of held for trading or is
designated as measured at FVPL upon initial recognition.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those measured at FVPL. The
Company includes in this category amounts relating to short-term payables.

Recognition
The Company recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only when, it
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades)
are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

(iii) Initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in
the statement of financial position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments
are recognised directly in profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets and financial liabilities (other than those classified as at fair value
through profit or loss) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable
incremental costs of acquisition or issue.

{(iv) Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement, the Company measures financial instruments which are
classified as at fair value through profit or loss at fair value. Subsequent changes in the
fair value of those financial instruments are recorded in net gains or losses on financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Interest and dividends earned or paid on these instruments are
recorded separately in interest income or expense and dividend income or expense in
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Debt instruments, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for

impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the debt instruments
cost are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

11
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

{iv) Subsequent measurement (continued)

The effective interest method ("EIR") is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter year to the net carryving amount of
the financial asset or financial liability. VWhen calculating the effective interest rate, the
Company estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instruments, but does not consider expected credit losses ("ECL"). The calculation
includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

(v) Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of
similar financial assets) is derecognised where:

« The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

« The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a "pass through" arrangement and either (a) the Company has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a "pass-through" arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Company's continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Company has retained.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when the ohligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

12
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets
The Company holds only short-term receivables with no financing component and which

have maturities of less than 12 months at amortised cost and, as such, has chosen to apply
an approach similar to the simplified approach for expected credit losses ("ECL") under IFRS
9 to all its receivables. Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead, recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.

The Company's approach to ECLs reflects a probability-weighted ocutcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or
effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

The Company uses the provision matrix as a practical expedient to measuring ECLs on
receivables, based on days past due for groupings of receivables with similar loss patterns.
Receivables are grouped based on their nature. The provision matrix is based on historical
observed loss rates over the expected life of the receivables and is adjusted for forward-
locking estimates.

Fair value measurement
The Company measures its investment in financial instruments at fair value at each reporting
date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible tothe Company.

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based
on their market quoted price within the bidfask price or broker quotations which could be
indicative prices, without any deduction for transaction costs. Securities defined in these
accounts as ‘listed' are traded in an active market.

For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined
by using valuation techniques deemed to be appropriate in the circumstances. Valuation
technigues include the market approach (i.e., using recent arm's length market transactions
adjusted as necessary and reference to the current market value of another instrument that
is substantially the same) and the income approach (i.e., discounted cash flow analysis and
option pricing models making as much use of available and supportable market data as
possible).

13
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by re-assessing the categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the beginning of each reporting period.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a
result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the
present value at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in the statement of profit or loss.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from coniracts with clients

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the control of goods or services
is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a) Management fee
Management fee income is recognised over time because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company.

Other income

{nterest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by
applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Functional currency
These financial statements are presented in United States dollar, which is the Company's

functional and presentation currency.

14
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Eoreian currencies transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into the functional currency of

the reporting unit at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction. At the end of the
reporting period, all monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are
translated to the functional currency using the closing exchange rate. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or [oss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency shall
be translated using the exchange rates at the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item.

Expenses
All expenses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss on an accrual basis.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOMES

The principal activities of the Company are the creation of trusts and the administration and
management of assets in trusts. Total revenue and other income recognised during the year
are as follows:

2024 2023
usD usD
Revenue:

Management fee income 170,000 185,000

Other incomes include the following:
Bank interest income 62,436 60,034
Foreign exchange differences, net {(114) (25)
652,322 60,009

The performance cbligation for management fee income is satisfied over time as services
are rendered.

TAXATION
There are no taxes on income or gains in the Cayman Islands and the Company has received
an undertaking from the Governor in Council of the Cayman Islands exempting it from all

local income, profits and capital taxes for a period of 20 years from 10 October 2019.
Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included in these financial statements.

15
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

6.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALIENTS

2024 2023
ush usbh
Cash at bank 1,955,991 2,249,019

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying
amount of the cash at bank approximate to their fair values.

MANAGEMENT FEE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
ush usD
Management fee receivables 170,000 185,000

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the
above balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

SHARE CAPITAL
2024 2023
ushD usD
Issued and fully paid:
735,000 (2023: 735,000) ordinary shares
of USD1 (2023: USD1) each 735,000 735,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled toreceive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

Capital management
The Company's primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's

ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns to
shareholders, by pricing services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost. As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company’s sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
also be affected by the group’s capital management objectives. The Company defines
"capital” as including all components of equity.

The Company's capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the
Company or the group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the directors’ fiduciary
duties towards the Company.

The Company was nd subject to externally imposed capital requirements in the current
period.

16
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to contrd the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.

Outstanding balances with related parties
The Company has the following outstanding balances due from/(to) related companies as at
the end of reporting period:

Notes 2024 2023

usD usD

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary (a) 864 864
Amount due to an immediate holding company (b) (23,303) (16,752)

(a) The amount due from a fellow subsidiary represents expenses paid by the Company on
behalf of Credit Suisse (Singapore) Limited. It is unsecured, interest-free and has no
fixed terms of repayment.

(b) The amount due to an immediate holding company represents expenses paid by Credit
Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited on behalf of the Company. It is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Transactions with related parties
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company had the following material transactions with related parties:

Notes 2024 2023
ushD usD

Compensation of key management personnel
of the Company (c) 107,053 108,643

(c) The details of the remuneration of the directors, being the key management personnel
defined as a related party of the Company

17
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

10.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company's investing activities expose it to various types of risk that are associated with
the financial instruments and markets in which it invests. The most important types of
financial risk to which the Company is exposed are market risk, credit and counterparty risk
and liquidity risk. Market risk includes foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. The
directors oversee the management of these risks.

The nature and extent of the financial instruments cutstanding at the end of reporting pericd
and the risk management policies employed by the Company are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from uncertainty concerning movements in market
prices and rates, including observable variables such as interest rates, credit spreads,
exchange rates, and others that may be only indirectly observable such as volatilties
and correlations. Market risk includes such factors as changes in economic
environment, consumption pattern and investors' expectation etc. which may have
significant impact on the value of the investments. Market movement may therefore
result in substantial fluctuation in the financial position of the Company.

Foreign currency risk

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through certain transactions
which give rise to payables that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Since the Hong
Kong Dollars is pegged to the USD, the Company's exposure to foreign currency risk
in respect of the invoices and expenses denominated in USD is considered to be
minimal.

Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk only to the extent that it earns bank
interest on cash at bank. At 31 December 2024 and 2023, a change in interest rates
would have no direct material effect on the carrying value of the recognised assets or
liabilities of the Company.

Credit and counterparty risk

Credit and counterparty risk is the risk of loss resulting from client or counterparty
default and arises on credit exposure in all forms, including settlement risk. The
Company's credit and counterparty risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash
equivalents and amounts due from related companies. The Company's management
regularly monitors the credit and counterparty risk of all the financial assets. It is
considered that they are not past due or impaired for each of the reporting dates under
review. None of the Company's financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit
enhancements.

The directors considered the credit and counterparty risk as minimal since the
Company's clients are the Company's related companies.
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

10.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(c)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to
meet commitments associated with financial liabilities. The Company's strategy is to
minimise its exposure to liguidity risk by monitoring the Company's liquid capital from
time to time and by obtaining funds from partners where necessary.

The following table summarises the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities
based on contractual undiscounted payments. Balances due within one year equal their
carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is insignificant. The table also analyses
the maturity profile of the Company's financial assets (undiscounted where appropriate)
in order to provide a complete view of the Company's contractual commitments and
liquidity.

Financial liabilities
The maturity grouping is based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting
period to the contractual maturity date. Yhen a counterparty has a choice of when the
amount is paid, the liability is allocated tothe earliest period in which the Company can
be required to pay.

Financial assets

The analysis into maturity groupings is based on the remaining period from the end of
the reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, if earlier, the expected date on
which the assets will be realised.

On Less than Jto12 No
demand 3 months months maturity Total
usD usD usD usD ushD
31 December 2024
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to the
immediate holding
company 22,303 - - - 22,303
22,303 - - - 22,303
On Less than 3to12 No
demand 3 months months maturity Total
usD usb usb usb usbD
31 December 2023
Financial liabilties
Amounts due to the
immediate holding
company 16,752 - - - 16,752
Directors’ fee
payable 428 396 - - - 428,396
445,148 - - - 445,148
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11.

UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Company considers itself the sponsor of a structured entity when either its name appears
in the name of the structured entity or in products issued by it or there is a general expectation
from the market that the Company is associated with the structured entity or the Company
was involved in the design or set up of the structured entity and has a form of involvement
with the structured entity.

The below unconsolidated structured entities are sponsored by the Company where a fixed
annual management fee of USD5,000 (2023: USD5,000) each is received but no interest is
held by the Company as at 31 December 2024.

Australian High Dividend Equity Twin Alpha Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
US REIT Premium Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

Principal / CS Canadian Equity Income Fund (For Qualified institutional Investors Only)
Global REIT Triple Premium Fund {For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)*

US Preferred REIT Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)*

Japan Equity Premium Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

NB/MYAM US REIT Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)*

Daiwa UK High Dividend Equity Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)*
Brazil Equity Alpha Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

Daiwa Brazilian Real Bond Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

Nissay Japan Equity Active Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

AMP Australia REIT Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

J-REIT and Real Estate Equity Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

Daiwa American High Dividend Equity Quattro Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional
Investors Only)

Daiwa American REIT Quattro Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
Shinsei World Wrap Stable Type (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

US REIT Triple Engine Plus Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

US Municipal Bond Fund

Tokio Marine CAT Bond Fund*

Global High Dividend Equity Premium Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
Meister's Collection

PIMCO Short Term Income Strategy Fund

PIMCO Short Term Strategy

Daiwa J-REIT Covered Call Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)

Foreign Currency Denominated Man AHL Smart Leverage Strategy Fund

SBI PICTET Asia Hi-Tech Venture Fund

AUD Short Term Bond Fund

Insight Alpha

US Dynamic Growth

Premium Carry Strategy Fund

BSMD Global Advantage

Daiwa WiL Ventures Ill, L.P. Fund

Japan Equity Premium Strategy Fund

Glcbal Select Carry Strategy Fund

* The funds were terminated during 2024.
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UBS MANAGEMENT (CAYMAN) LIMITED
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

11. UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

The Company has not provided financial or other support to unconsolidated structured
entities that it was not contractually required to provide.

The Company does not currently have the intention to provide financial or other support to
unconsolidated structured entities that is not contractually required to provide.

12.  APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 21 May 2025.
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